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Appellant Marilyn Sibyl Chandler Fenderson was a caregiver for Katherine
Majerus, an elderly woman in failing health. After Majerus’s death, Fenderson removed
over $300,000 from Majerus’s bank accounts, claiming that Majerus had given her the
accounts. A jury convicted her of one count of grand theft (Pen. Code, § 487, subd. (a))?
and one count of second degree commercial burglary (88 459, 460). On appeal,
Fenderson contends that her convictions are not supported by substantial evidence and
that the individual and cumulative impact of alleged instructional errors requires reversal.
Fenderson also argues that recent amendments to section 4019 should be applied
retroactively to entitle her to additional presentence custody credits.

In the unpublished portion of our opinion, we agree that the amendments to
section 4019 are retroactive and that Fenderson is accordingly entitled to recalculation of

her presentence custody credits. Otherwise, we affirm and specifically address in the

* Pursuant to California Rules of Court, rules 8.1105(b) and 8.1110, this opinion is
certified for publication with the exception of parts 1.D., IL.E., II.F., and I11.G.

1 Unless otherwise noted, all further statutory references are to the Penal Code.



published portion of our opinion three of Fenderson’s contentions: the judgment was not
supported by substantial evidence; the trial court failed to instruct the jury on certain
probate code provisions; and improper limitations were placed on her claim-of-right
defense.

l. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Prosecution’s Case

Katherine Majerus died on January 22, 2006, at the age of 96. Fenderson had
served as Majerus’s caregiver.

Deirdre Kruse is an elder law attorney, with a practice in Santa Rosa. Kruse knew
Majerus for approximately 23 years. Kruse met several of Majerus’s care providers, one
of whom was Fenderson. Kruse had prepared between six and eight wills for Majerus
over the years. Kruse explained that “[Majerus] had no children and . . . she only had two
elderly brothers and so she was very concerned about where her estate would go upon her
death. [1]...[f]...[S]he had cats and a dog over the years and so always her bequest
had something to do with nonprofit agencies that provided assistance for animals.”
Majerus never discussed naming Fenderson as a beneficiary. In fact, in all of the wills
that Kruse prepared, Majerus had never made a bequest to an individual who was not a
family member. In Majerus’s 2004 will, Kruse was named as executor.

Majerus’s 2004 will was prepared by Linda Barker Perkins, an associate attorney
in Kruse’s office. The 2004 will bequeathed $5,000 to one of Majerus’s brothers, with
the residue to be split by Guide Dogs for the Blind, Forgotten Felines, and Valley of the
Moon Children’s Home. No other individuals were named in the 2004 will. Fenderson’s
name was never mentioned to Barker Perkins in connection with the 2004 will.

On January 26, 2005, Majerus told Kruse “I don’t trust [Fenderson,] . . . but |
don’t have anybody else.” Kruse offered to help Majerus find someone to replace
Fenderson, but Majerus explained that she was fearful about starting over with someone
else. Kruse and Majerus had similar conversations “[m]any times” over the years. In
2005, Majerus contacted Kruse regarding the sale of her home. After selling her home,

Majerus moved into various assisted living facilities.



Kruse learned of Majerus’s death when she saw her obituary in the paper. Both
Kruse and Fenderson attended Majerus’s funeral. At the funeral, Kruse asked Fenderson
for Majerus’s bank records, knowing that Fenderson had helped Majerus with her
banking. In reply, Fenderson said that she would bring the documents “right over” to
Kruse’s office. Fenderson also asked if Majerus had changed her will. Kruse did not
respond.

Kruse’s office did not receive any documents from Fenderson until a month or two
after the funeral. In March 2006, when Kruse received bank records from Fenderson,
Kruse only received records from a couple of small accounts at Washington Mutual.
Kruse was concerned because her understanding was that the majority of Majerus’s assets
had been at Wells Fargo. Kruse had not received any records from Wells Fargo, where
Kruse assumed the proceeds from the sale of Majerus’s home had been placed.

On March 22, 2006, Kruse sent a letter to Wells Fargo notifying it of Majerus’s
death and requesting information on her bank accounts. Kruse did not receive any
response. Concerned that a large sum of money derived from the sale of Majerus’s house
was unaccounted for, Kruse notified law enforcement.

Kim Nadeau worked as a paralegal in Kruse’s office between October 2005 and
July 2006. Beginning in February 2006, Nadeau tried to contact Fenderson eight times to
obtain Majerus’s bank records. Nadeau left a number of messages on Fenderson’s
answering machine. On February 27, 2006, Nadeau spoke with Fenderson after making
two prior attempts. Fenderson explained that she was in the process of moving and was
looking for the bank records. Fenderson told Nadeau that she would drop the records off
the following week.

Ultimately, Nadeau received Washington Mutual bank records from Fenderson on
March 27, 2006. Nadeau testified that she asked Fenderson about records from a Wells
Fargo account. Fenderson indicated for the first time that “[Majerus] had given her that
account and that’s why she wasn’t providing records for that account.” Nadeau informed

Kruse of Fenderson’s statements and filed a police report.



Mark Fuston, a sergeant with the Sonoma County Sheriff’s Department, testified
that he was assigned to investigate after receiving a report from the Windsor Police
Department regarding missing estate funds. Fuston contacted Kruse’s offices and
interviewed Kruse and Nadeau. Fuston then obtained a court order for production of
Majerus’s financial records.

Majerus’s Wells Fargo records show that the proceeds from the sale of her home
were deposited into her checking account on February 10, 2005. The records also show
that $259,000 was withdrawn from the same checking account on April 7, 2006, after
Majerus’s death. Fuston also obtained a copy of a Wells Fargo Bank preprinted special
power of attorney form, signed by Majerus on June 30, 2005, that gave Fenderson access
to Majerus’s Wells Fargo accounts.

Fuston was not successful in contacting Fenderson, despite making telephonic
requests. On September 19, 2007, Fuston met with a Wells Fargo employee who
provided Fuston with a copy of a cashier’s check. The cashier’s check was dated April 7,
2006, and was made payable to Fenderson in the amount of $304,000. A Wells Fargo
withdrawal slip, signed in Fenderson’s name, shows a withdrawal of $45,000 from a
Wells Fargo savings account on April 7, 2006.

Next, Fuston searched Sonoma County property records and learned that
Fenderson had purchased a home in Larkfield on November 17, 2006. A down payment
of $184,258.50 had been paid by Fenderson to Chicago Title Company. The check was
drawn from Citibank. Two other checks to Chicago Title had been drawn from
Fenderson’s Citibank account.

Fenderson was arrested on October 5, 2007. After having been read her Miranda
rights, Fenderson told Fuston that she had been taking care of Majerus for quite a few
years and that Majerus had given her permission to take the proceeds from the sale of her
home. Fenderson told Fuston that she purchased the house in Larkfield with the money
and also used it to purchase clothing, groceries and to help one of her daughters.

Robert Dortch, a senior investigator with Citigroup Investigative Services,

testified regarding Fenderson’s Citibank account records. On April 7, 2006, Fenderson’s



account showed a $304,000 deposit. In addition, Fenderson’s account records showed
the following transactions: withdrawals of $8,341.58 for April 2006; deposits of $883.51
and withdrawals of $20,370.61 for May 2006; deposits of $824.43 and withdrawals of
$8,143.91 for June 2006; deposits of $1,048.92 and withdrawals of $14,050.87 for July
2006; deposits of $418.34 and withdrawals of $9,659.24 for August 2006; deposits of
$397.91 and withdrawals of $15,948.97 for September 2006; deposits of $446.15 and
withdrawals of $6,677.59 for October 2006; and deposits of $216.07 and withdrawals of
$198,922.39 for November 2006.

Defense Case

Fenderson testified that, in 1996, she became licensed as a certified nursing
assistant, home health assistant, acute care assistant, and phlebotomist. Fenderson met
Majerus that same year. Fenderson began working with Majerus between two and six
hours per week. Fenderson would come to Majerus’s home and take Majerus shopping
or drive her to medical appointments. In total, Fenderson worked with Majerus for 10
years before her death. Fenderson also socialized with Majerus. They celebrated
birthdays and holidays together, and Majerus grew to know Fenderson’s daughters.

Fenderson testified that Majerus lived at home when Fenderson first began
working for her. Majerus sold the house in 2005 when “she wasn’t able to keep it up
anymore.” Thereafter, Majerus moved into a hospital, when she had pneumonia, and
then into Deer Creek Manor, a residential care home. Fenderson visited Majerus every
day while she was in the hospital and worked two to three hours most days while Majerus
was at Deer Creek Manor. Fenderson would write out checks for Majerus’s bills and take
her shopping or to the park.

Fenderson testified that, in November 2004, Majerus said that “when she passed
away, . . . everything that was in her Wells Fargo accounts” was Fenderson’s. Fenderson
believed Majerus, stating “I had no reason not to. She’d never lied to me before.”
Months later, on June 30, 2005, Majerus gave Fenderson power of attorney over

Majerus’s three Wells Fargo accounts. Fenderson did not read the power of attorney, but



understood that “[Majerus] was putting [her] on the account[s] so [she] could take care of
[Majerus’s] business when [Majerus] wasn’t able to.”

In April 2005, Majerus fell and broke her back and moved to Dolly’s Manor, a
facility that could provide more extensive care. Majerus resided at Dolly’s Manor until
her death. Fenderson continued to work for her a couple of hours a day.

Fenderson was notified of Majerus’s death by Dolly’s Manor. Fenderson attended
Majerus’s funeral, along with Kruse, whom Fenderson had known since the 1980°s. At
the funeral, Kruse asked Fenderson for Majerus’s bills and financial records. Fenderson
agreed to provide them. They did not discuss Majerus’s Wells Fargo accounts.

On cross-examination, Fenderson conceded that she had never seen a will in
which Majerus named her as a beneficiary. She knew that Kruse was the attorney who
had prepared Majerus’s will. Fenderson was never contacted by Kruse and told that she
was a beneficiary of Majerus’s will. However, Fenderson testified that she did not ask
Kruse if Majerus had changed her will.

Fenderson recalled discussions with Nadeau regarding Majerus’s financial
records. In approximately February or March 2006, Fenderson told Nadeau that Majerus
had left her the Wells Fargo accounts. At the end of March 2006, Fenderson provided
Kruse’s office with some of Majerus’s financial documents. Fenderson did not provide
any of Majerus’s Wells Fargo documents because she believed the money was her own.

Fenderson testified that, on April 7, 2006, she went into a Wells Fargo bank and
withdrew $259,000 from Majerus’s checking account and $45,000 from Majerus’s
savings account. Fenderson was asked: “And you did that based upon your position as
power of attorney. Is that correct?” Fenderson replied: “No. []] . . . [] At that point |
was not the power of attorney.” Fenderson did not inform Wells Fargo that Majerus had
died, believing that her attorney had done so. Fenderson deposited the $304,000 into her
Citibank account the same day. Fenderson spent the money in various ways, including
purchasing a home in Larkfield.

Donald Oliver and his wife owned and administered Deer Creek Manor. Oliver

testified that Majerus lived at Deer Creek Manor between November 9, 2004, and



April 1, 2005. According to Oliver, Fenderson visited Majerus four or five days a week
and provided services that Deer Creek Manor did not provide. Majerus never complained
to Oliver about Fenderson. One day, Oliver overheard Majerus tell Fenderson “ ‘“When I
pass away . .. I’d like you to have the rest of what is left in this account.” ” Oliver did
not know to which account Majerus was referring. Oliver testified that he had seen
Fenderson after Majerus left the facility and had discussed the fact that Fenderson was
experiencing legal problems.

Fenderson was charged by information with grand theft (§ 487, subd. (a); count
one) of $259,000 from Majerus’s estate and commercial burglary (§ 459; count two).
With respect to the first count, it was further alleged that Fenderson took property of a
value exceeding $150,000. (Former § 12022.6, subd. (a)(2), as amended by Stats. 1998,
ch. 454, 8 2.) Fenderson was tried by jury and convicted on both counts. The
enhancement allegation was also found true.

On December 18, 2008, Fenderson was sentenced to state prison for a total term of
four years. Fenderson was sentenced to a two-year term on count one. A two-year term
on count two was stayed, pursuant to section 654. Fenderson also received a two-year
term for the enhancement. The court ordered restitution, in the amount of $304,000, to
be paid to the victims and a restitution fine of $600. Fenderson received a total of
36 days of presentence custody credit. Fenderson, acting pro se, filed a timely notice of
appeal.

Il. DISCUSSION

In her opening brief, Fenderson contends that (1) her convictions are not supported
by substantial evidence; (2) the court’s failure to instruct on certain probate code
provisions requires reversal; (3) the claim-of-right defense was improperly limited,

(4) the jury was improperly instructed regarding consciousness of guilt; (5) the jury was
improperly instructed that any failure to explain adverse testimony could be considered in
evaluating the evidence; and (6) the cumulative effect of these errors requires reversal. In

her supplemental opening brief, Fenderson further contends that the recent amendments



to section 4019 should be applied retroactively to entitle her to additional presentence
custody credits. We address each of these arguments in order.
A. Substantial Evidence

Fenderson argues for the first time on appeal that, as a matter of law, the June 30,
2005 power of attorney remained in effect on April 7, 2006, entitling Fenderson to make
the subject withdrawals. Accordingly, she argues that substantial evidence does not
support the trespassory elements of grand theft and burglary necessary to sustain her
conviction for these offenses.

In determining the sufficiency of the evidence, we “ ‘must view the evidence in a
light most favorable to respondent and presume in support of the judgment the existence
of every fact the trier could reasonably deduce from the evidence.” [Citations.]” (People
v. Johnson (1980) 26 Cal.3d 557, 576-577.) “Evidence, to be ‘substantial’ must be ‘of
ponderable legal significance . . . reasonable in nature, credible, and of solid value.’
[Citations.]” (Id. at p. 576.)

1. The Power of Attorney

Generally, a power of attorney terminates on the death of the principal. (Prob.
Code, § 4152, subd. (a)(4) [“the authority of an attorney-in-fact under a power of attorney
Is terminated by . . . [T] . . . [1]] (4) Death of the principal . . .”].) However, Fenderson
points out that section 4101, subdivision (a), of the Probate Code provides, in relevant
part: “the principal may limit the application of any provision of this division by an
express statement in the power of attorney or by providing an inconsistent rule in the
power of attorney.” Here, the power of attorney states in relevant part: “This power of
attorney will remain in effect until this office of Wells Fargo receives actual notice of my
death, or the accounts are closed, or this office receives from me written revocation of

this power of attorney and has provided me with written acknowledgement of such



revocation.”? (Italics added.) Fenderson argues that the power of attorney was still in
effect on April 7, 2006, because Kruse “had notified a different bank branch of her
client’s death, but not the branch where the power of attorney was lodged.”3

In considering Fenderson’s arguments we therefore assume that she held an
operative power of attorney at the time that she removed funds from those accounts on
April 7, 2006.4 Unfortunately for Fenderson, this fact fails to aid her position.

2. Fenderson was Properly Convicted of Grand Theft

a. Grand Theft by Larceny

Section 487, subdivision (a), provides: “Grand theft is theft committed . . .
[T] (a) When the money, labor, or real or personal property taken is of a value exceeding
four hundred dollars ($400) . . ..” “Theft” is defined in section 484, subdivision (a), as
follows: “Every person who shall feloniously steal, take, carry, lead, or drive away the
personal property of another, or who shall fraudulently appropriate property which has
been entrusted to him or her, or who shall knowingly and designedly, by any false or

fraudulent representation or pretense, defraud any other person of money, labor or real or

2 The special power of attorney was, as noted above, a preprinted Wells Fargo
Bank form. The requirement of notice to the branch where the accounts were located
seems self-evidently intended to protect the bank and not the account holder.

3 Fenderson also relies on Probate Code section 4308, which provides: “(a) A
third person who conducts activities through employees is not charged under this chapter
with actual knowledge of any fact relating to a power of attorney, nor of a change in the
authority of an attorney-in-fact, unless both of the following requirements are satisfied:
[T] (1) The information is received at a home office or a place where there is an employee
with responsibility to act on the information. [{]] (2) The employee has a reasonable time
in which to act on the information using the procedure and facilities that are available to
the third person in the regular course of its operations. [{] (b) Knowledge of an employee
in one branch or office of an entity that conducts business through branches or multiple
offices is not attributable to an employee in another branch or office.” (Italics added.)

4 There is evidence that Fenderson withdrew the $304,000 from a Wells Fargo
branch on Fourth Street in Santa Rosa and that Kruse notified a Wells Fargo branch on
B Street in Santa Rosa of Majerus’s death. However, there is no evidence in the record
demonstrating where the power of attorney was lodged.



personal property, or who causes or procures others to report falsely of his or her wealth
or mercantile character and by thus imposing upon any person, obtains credit and thereby
fraudulently gets or obtains possession of money, or property or obtains the labor or
service of another, is guilty of theft. . . .” Burglary “requires an entry into a specified
structure with the intent to commit theft or any felony. [Citations.]” (People v. Tafoya
(2007) 42 Cal.4th 147, 170-171.)

“Since the amendment in 1927 to section 484 . . ., an accused may be convicted of
grand theft upon proof showing either larceny, embezzlement or obtaining money by
false pretenses [citation], and it is unnecessary to specify in the accusatory pleading the
kind of grand theft with which the defendant is charged.” (People v. Martin (1957)

153 Cal.App.2d 275, 281, accord, § 952; People v. Creath (1995) 31 Cal.App.4th 312,
318.)

Contrary to Fenderson’s suggestion, the information here did not charge that the
theft had been committed in any specific manner. However, the jury was only instructed
on theft by larceny. The burglary instruction also incorporated the theft by larceny
instructions.

“The elements of theft by larceny are well settled: the offense is committed by
every person who (1) takes possession (2) of personal property (3) owned or possessed by
another, (4) by means of trespass and (5) with intent to steal the property, and (6) carries
the property away. [Citations.] The act of taking personal property from the possession
of another is always a trespass unless the owner consents to the taking freely and
unconditionally or the taker has a legal right to take the property. [Citation.]” (People v.
Davis (1998) 19 Cal.4th 301, 305, fns. omitted.)

Fenderson contends in essence that there was no evidence to satisfy the trespass
element of theft by larceny. At trial, she contended that she became the owner of the
account by virtue of an oral bequest from Majerus, effective upon Majerus’s death. She
argued that she could not be guilty of grand theft because she took the funds under a good
faith claim of right, believing that Majerus had given them to her. She did not, however,

claim any belief that the power of attorney gave her the right to funds in the account,
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testifying that “[Majerus] was putting [her] on the account[s] so [she] could take care of
[Majerus’s] business when [Majerus] wasn’t able to.” When asked if she withdrew
funds from the Wells Fargo accounts “based upon your position as power of attorney,”
she replied: “No. [Y] . .. [1] At that point I was not the power of attorney.”

She now contends that continuing validity of the power of attorney establishes that
she necessarily took the property with the consent of the “owner’s agent”—herself.
Fenderson asserts that, because she remained Majerus’s agent pursuant to the power of
attorney, the taking was obviously under an agent’s authority, even if she may have been
guilty of embezzlement by later converting the funds to her own use.®> The People
concede that if Fenderson obtained the money through a valid power of attorney she
would be guilty of theft by embezzlement, rather than theft by larceny. We think the
People concede too much.

“Embezzlement is the fraudulent appropriation of property by a person to whom it
has been [e]ntrusted.” (8 503.) The elements of embezzlement are “1. An owner
entrusted his/her property to the defendant; 2. The owner did so because he/she trusted
the defendant; 3. The defendant fraudulently converted that property for his/her own
benefit; [and] 4. When the defendant converted the property, he/she intended to deprive
the owner of its use.” (CALCRIM No. 1806.) Fenderson in fact concedes that the
evidence is sufficient to establish embezzlement, but argues that the jury was never
instructed on a theory of theft by embezzlement.

We agree that Fenderson’s crime would have been embezzlement had it occurred
while Majerus was alive. However, even if she held a power of attorney still recognized
by the bank in April 2006, this does not mean as Fenderson contends, that she was
entrusted with the funds in the Wells Fargo accounts by their owner at the time that she

took them. Fenderson acknowledged that she acquired no ownership interest in the

5> Her opening brief refers euphemistically to “shirk[ing] her fiduciary
responsibilities as an attorney-in-fact” and says that she “may have committed
embezzlement.”
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accounts under the power of attorney, but held authority over the accounts only as
Majerus’s agent. Fenderson’s argument presumes that Majerus remained the owner of
the funds in the Wells Fargo accounts on April 7, 2006. She did not. Majerus died on
January 22, 2006. On April 7, 2006, the owner of the account was Majerus’s estate.
Subject to administration, “title to a decedent’s property passes on the decedent’s death t0
the person to whom it is devised in the decedent’s last will or, in the absence of such a
devise, to the decedent’s heirs as prescribed in the laws governing intestate succession.”
(Prob. Code, 88 7000, 7001, italics added.) Fenderson was charged with theft from the
estate, not from Majerus. Fenderson does not contend that the beneficiaries of Majerus’s
will consented to Fenderson’s taking, nor that she was their agent, and the jury obviously
rejected her testimony that she made the withdrawals believing that Majerus had given
the accounts to her. Fenderson may have had the ability to access the Wells Fargo
accounts in April 2006, but she had no authority from the owner to do so. Thus,
substantial evidence supports Fenderson’s convictions for a trespassory taking of the
property of the estate, i.e. grand theft by larceny.

b. Grand Theft by Embezzlement

We agree in any event with the People that, whether or not larceny was the proper
theory of theft in this instance, Fenderson’s convictions may nonetheless be affirmed
even if based on substantial evidence of theft by embezzlement. As discussed post,
Fenderson essentially concedes the sufficiency of the evidence to establish
embezzlement.

In People v. North (1982) 131 Cal.App.3d 112, 117-118 (North), the Second
District Court of Appeal held that a theft conviction may be upheld as long as there is
sufficient evidence, under any theory of theft, to support the conviction, even if the jury
was not instructed on the relevant theory of theft. “Over [the defendant’s] objection, the
jury was instructed on larceny by trick or device even though obtaining property by false
pretenses is a more accurate description of the crime committed. [{]] The necessity of
corroboration distinguishes false pretenses from trick and device and adds to the burden

of proof the People must carry. Corroboration was present at bench . ... In People v.
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Kagan (1968) 264 Cal.App.2d 648 . . . the jury was instructed on larceny by trick and
device, embezzlement and false pretenses. The court, discussing the distinction between
said types of theft said at page 658: ‘As to the California theft statute (§ 484), however,
the cases all hold that a judgment of conviction must be affirmed if there is sufficient
evidence to support a theft conviction on any theory. [Citations.] As stated in [People v.]
Ashley [(1954) 42 Cal.2d 246, 258], “Juries need no longer be concerned with the
technical differences between the several types of theft, and can return a general verdict
of guilty if they find that an ‘unlawful taking’ has been proved.” > (Fn. omitted.)”
(North, supra, 131 Cal.App.3d at pp. 117-118.)

Our own division has adopted the reasoning of North. (People v. Counts (1995)
31 Cal.App.4th 785, 792 (Counts).) In Counts, codefendant Mikels ordered lumber on
credit for a project that did not exist and then sold the lumber at a discount to Counts.
Mikels was convicted of three counts of grand theft and one count of attempted theft.
(Counts, supra, 31 Cal.App.4th at pp. 787—-788.) On appeal, Mikels argued that one of
the counts of grand theft should be reversed because the lumber company retained a
security interest in the lumber, which negated the element of transfer of title required to
prove theft by false pretenses. Mikels claimed he could be convicted only of larceny by
trick, a theory on which the jury had not been instructed. (ld. at pp. 788, 792.)

The court observed that “[i]n California, the ancient common law distinctions
between the theories of larceny by trick and theft by false pretenses no longer exist by
statute; under section 484, there is simply one consolidated crime of theft, which the jury
may find upon either theory, if there is an “‘unlawful[ taking]’ [citation].” (Counts, supra,
31 Cal.App.4th at p. 793.) “ ‘The purpose of the consolidation [in § 9526] was to remove
the technicalities that existed in the pleading and proof of these crimes at common

law. ...”” (Counts, at p. 793, quoting People v. Ashley, supra, 42 Cal.2d at p. 258.)

6 Section 952 states in relevant part that “[i]n charging theft it shall be sufficient to
allege that the defendant unlawfully took the labor or property of another.”
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Mikels relied on People v. Curtin (1994) 22 Cal.App.4th 528, 531 (Curtin), in
which Division Three of this court stated that “the offense shown by the evidence must
be one on which the jury was instructed and thus could have reached its verdict.”
(Counts, supra, 31 Cal.App.4th at pp. 791-792.) Mikels argued that, under Curtin,
reversal of a theft conviction is always required if the defendant is found guilty of theft
on the wrong theory.

In Curtin the defendant was convicted of second degree burglary, grand theft, and
forgery “arising out of a single incident in which he cashed a check at a bank by
misrepresenting himself as one of the bank’s depositors and using a forged signature.”
(Curtin, supra, 22 Cal.App.4th at p. 530.) The jury was instructed on only one theory of
theft, theft by trick and device, requiring “that in surrendering possession of the property,
the victim of the theft ‘did not intend to transfer the ownership.” ” The defendant argued,
and the court agreed, that there was no evidence to satisfy this element of the offense.
(Id. at p. 531.) Reversing, the Curtin court held that “if the elements of theft by trick
were not proven, the conviction cannot be affirmed on the ground the evidence showed
defendant’s guilt of false pretenses, which has additional required substantive elements,
as well as a special corroboration requirement, upon which the jury was not instructed.
[Citation.]” (lbid.)

Counts distinguished Curtin, noting that in Curtin “the instruction as to larceny by

trick required the presence of evidence which did not exist in the record, and there was
insufficient evidence of corroboration to sustain the conviction on a theory of false
pretenses. [Citation.]” (Counts, supra, 31 Cal.App.4th at p. 791.) Counts criticized the
statement in Curtin that “the offense shown by the evidence must be one on which the
jury was instructed and thus could have reached its verdict” (Curtin, supra,
22 Cal.App.4th at p. 531) as dictum, and observed that “neither Curtin nor any decision
cited therein actually holds there is a rule of per se reversal in such circumstances.”
(Counts, at pp. 791-792.)

Counts found any error harmless, since “even under [the] appellant’s theory, the

error caused the People to carry an unnecessary burden of proving corroboration in order
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to establish false pretenses. It is impossible to understand how an error which increased
the People’s evidentiary burden could have prejudiced appellant.” (Counts, supra,

31 Cal.App.4th at p. 793.) As the court observed, “[i]t would obviously be very hard to
explain why a theft conviction should be reversed on the grounds that the evidence
showed the defendant was indeed guilty of theft, but would have been guilty of a
differently denominated type of theft under a common law system which has been
repealed by statute. In the words of Justice Traynor, ‘it is immaterial whether or not [the
jurors] agreed as to the technical pigeonhole into which the theft fell.” [Citation.]” (ld. at
pp. 793-794.)

Similarly, in People v. Traster (2003) 111 Cal.App.4th 1377 (Traster), the Second
District Court of Appeal affirmed a conviction where the jury was instructed on theft by
false pretenses, when theft by trick was the appropriate theory. The reviewing court
observed that the error “is merely a technical one in which the jury was instructed on a
particular theory of theft which turned out to be the wrong one. In these circumstances,
the instructional error is harmless. This is particularly so in this case where the
instructional error ‘caused the People to carry the unnecessary burden of proving [the
additional element] of corroboration in order to establish false pretenses.” ” (ld. at
pp. 1389-1390, fns. omitted.)

We acknowledge that the Third District Court of Appeal, in People v. Beaver
(2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 107 (Beaver), recently followed Curtin in a similar situation. In
Beaver, the defendant was convicted of grand theft after he staged an accident at the ski
resort where he worked to obtain medical treatment for a prior injury to his knee and to
collect a cash settlement. (Id. at pp. 110-111.) The jury was instructed on theft by
larceny. (ld. at p. 119.) The defendant argued, on appeal, that a larceny instruction was
not appropriate because the evidence showed only theft by false pretenses. (Id. at
pp. 119-120.) Accordingly, he argued that the jury was permitted to convict him by
finding he intended to deprive his employer of property, but without also finding that he

intended to take possession of the property in the first place or that his employer relied on
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his representations or pretenses, which are elements of theft by false pretenses. (Id. at
p. 120.)

The Third District Court of Appeal agreed that, because the defendant’s employer
willingly paid for his medical treatment on the false representation that it had caused his
injuries, theft by false pretenses was the appropriate offense. (Beaver, supra,

186 Cal.App.4th at p. 121.) Relying on Curtin, the court also rejected the People’s
argument that “the consolidation of all theft offenses into the single crime of theft in
section 484 means the precise theory utilized by the prosecution does not matter as long
as the evidence supports the elements of at least one of the consolidated offenses.” (ld. at
pp. 122-123.) The court noted that the discussion of Curtin in Counts was itself dictum.
It also distinguished Counts, observing that the elements of theft by trick are subsumed
within the elements of theft by false pretenses but that the elements of theft by false
pretenses are not subsumed within the elements of theft by larceny. Because the
instructions read to the jury did not include all the elements necessary for theft by false
pretenses, the failure to instruct on those elements violated the defendant’s constitutional
rights to have the charges decided by a jury even if there was sufficient evidence in the
record to support such a charge. (Id. at pp. 124-125.) The error could not be deemed
harmless because “even if there was evidence in the record to support [the elements of
theft by false pretenses], the jury was never called upon to determine if they had been
established beyond a reasonable doubt.” (Id. at p. 125.)

We nevertheless find any error in the theory of grand theft presented to the jury to
be harmless here. Pursuant to CALCRIM No. 1800, the jury was told that to find
Fenderson guilty of grand theft, the prosecution was required to prove the following:

“1. The defendant took possession of property owned by someone else; 2. The defendant
took the property without the owner’s or owner’s agent’s consent; 3. When the defendant
took the property she intended to deprive the owner of it permanently; AND 4. The
defendant moved the property, even a small distance, and kept it for any period of time,
however brief.” As discussed ante, the instruction was correct on the facts of this case.

But even if embezzlement were the correct theory of theft to pursue, we would find any
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error harmless. Embezzlement is theft (§ 490a)7 and is chargeable as theft. (People v.
Artis (1993) 20 Cal.App.4th 1024, 1027.) “[T]here are no conflicts between the elements
to prove, or the punishment for, embezzlement under section 484 and embezzlement
defined in section 507. Each is punished ‘in the manner prescribed for theft of property
of the value or kind embezzled.” (§ 514.)” (People v. Artis, at p. 1027.) As with larceny
by trick and obtaining property by false pretenses, embezzlement and grand theft by
larceny are “aimed at different criminal acquisitive techniques . . . [but,] with other
larcenous crimes, have been consolidated into the single crime of theft (... 8§8484)....”
(People v. Ashley, supra, 42 Cal.2d at p. 258.)

As Fenderson herself concedes, grand theft by larceny requires proof of a
trespassory taking, and embezzlement does not. Even if we assume that Fenderson
lawfully acquired possession of money from the accounts under the authority of a valid
power of attorney, substantial evidence establishes that Fenderson immediately deposited
the money in her own bank account and immediately diverted it for personal purposes not
permitted or contemplated by the power of attorney, which she acknowledged allowed
her only to take care of Majerus’s business when Majerus was unable to do so. Taking
money from Majerus’s accounts for Fenderson’s own purposes would have been theft
while Majerus was alive, and was theft from her estate, whatever her “criminal
acquisitive technique.” (People v. Ashley, supra, 42 Cal.2d at p. 258.) Thus, there is
substantial evidence in the record to support a theory of theft by embezzlement. The
evidence further supports the inference that Fenderson had the intent to appropriate the
money from the Wells Fargo accounts for her own purposes when she entered the Wells
Fargo branch to withdraw the funds, providing substantial evidence to support the
burglary conviction. We agree with Counts that “It is impossible to understand how an

error which increased the People’s evidentiary burden could have prejudiced appellant.”

7 “Wherever any law or statute of this state refers to or mentions larceny,
embezzlement, or stealing, said law or statute shall hereafter be read and interpreted as if
the word ‘theft” were substituted therefor.” (§ 490a.)
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(Counts, supra, 31 Cal.App.4th at p. 793.) We also agree that “[i]t would obviously be
very hard to explain why a theft conviction should be reversed on the grounds that the
evidence showed the defendant was indeed guilty of theft, but would have been guilty of
a differently denominated type of theft under a common law system which has been
repealed by statute.” (Id. at pp. 793.)

B. Failure to Instruct on Probate Code Sections

Fenderson suggests that her convictions must be reversed because the jury was not
instructed on Probate Code sections 4101 or 4308.8 “Errors in jury instructions are
questions of law, which we review de novo.” (People v. Russell (2006) 144 Cal.App.4th
1415, 1424.) An appellate court cannot set aside a judgment on the basis of instructional
error unless, after an examination of the entire record, the court concludes that the error
has resulted in a miscarriage of justice. (Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13.)

Specifically, Fenderson asserts: “Although the Probate Code provides that explicit
terms of a power of attorney document may vary from and be inconsistent with the terms
that are statutorily prescribed, the jury was not instructed on these principles, and was
therefore not in a position to find that [Fenderson] was within her power of attorney
rights in withdrawing the moneys on April 7, 2006, which may have led to [Fenderson’s]
acquittal.”

The first difficulty with Fenderson’s argument is that she requested no such
instructions in the trial court and made no objection when the jury was instructed that “[a]
power of attorney terminates upon the death of the principal . . ..” But, even assuming
that the trial court had a sua sponte duty to instruct on Probate Code sections 4101 and

4308, this argument fails for the same reason that Fenderson’s first argument fails. Even

8 Probate Code section 4101, subdivision (a) states that “[e]xcept as provided in
subdivision (b), the principal may limit the application of any provision of this division
by an express statement in the power of attorney or by providing an inconsistent rule in
the power of attorney.” Probate Code section 4308, subdivision (b) provides that
“[k]nowledge of an employee in one branch or office of an entity that conducts business
through branches or multiple offices is not attributable to an employee in another branch
or office.”
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if the power of attorney remained valid on April 7, 2006, there was no evidence that
Fenderson obtained possession of the funds with the required consent from the
beneficiaries of Majerus’s will. Thus, the trial court did not err by not instructing on
Probate Code sections 4101 or 4308.
C. Claim-of-Right Instruction

Next, Fenderson argues that the trial court erred in its instructions to the jury on
the claim-of-right defense. “The claim-of-right defense provides that a defendant’s good
faith belief, even if mistakenly held, that he has a right or claim to property he takes from
another negates the felonious intent necessary for conviction of theft or robbery. At
common law, a claim of right was recognized as a defense to larceny because it was
deemed to negate the animus furandi, or intent to steal, of that offense. [Citation.]”
(People v. Tufunga (1999) 21 Cal.4th 935, 938 (Tufunga).)

Specifically, Fenderson maintains that the trial court erred by using CALCRIM
No. 1863, to instruct as follows: “If the defendant obtained property under a claim of
right, she did not have the intent required for the crime of theft. [{] The defendant
obtained property under a claim of right if she believed in good faith that she had a right
to the specific property or a specific amount of money, and she openly took it. [{] In
deciding whether the defendant believed that she had a right to the property and whether
she held that belief in good faith, consider all the facts known to her at the time she
obtained the property, along with all the other evidence in the case. The defendant may
hold a belief in good faith even if the belief is mistaken or unreasonable. But if the
defendant was aware of facts that made that belief completely unreasonable, you may
conclude that the belief was not in good faith. [{] The claim-of-right defense does not
apply if the defendant attempted to conceal the taking at the time it occurred or after the
taking was discovered. [{] The claim-of-right defense does not apply if the claim arose
from an activity commonly known to be illegal or known by the defendant to be illegal.
[1] If you have a reasonable doubt about whether the defendant had the intent required for

theft, you must find her not guilty of grand theft.” (Italics added.)
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Fenderson argues that inclusion of the italicized language constituted prejudicial
error because concealment is only relevant in embezzlement cases.9 Fenderson relies on
section 511, which provides: “Upon any indictment for embezzlement, it is a sufficient
defense that the property was appropriated openly and avowedly, and under a claim of
title preferred in good faith, even though such claim is untenable. But this provision does
not excuse the unlawful retention of the property of another to offset or pay demands held
against him.” (Italics added.)

Fenderson’s argument is without merit. Our Supreme Court has rejected the
argument that section 511 does not apply to theft by means other than embezzlement.
(Tufunga, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 952, fn. 4.)10 In Tufunga, the court noted: “Arguably,
the Legislature in 1927 expanded the statutory basis of the claim-of-right defense for
embezzlement to all theft-related offenses when it enacted section 490a, which provides,
‘Wherever any law or statute of this state refers to or mentions larceny, embezzlement, or
stealing, said law or statute shall hereafter be read and interpreted as if the word “theft”
were substituted therefor.” [Citations.] Consequently, section 511 may be read as
providing a statutory claim-of-right defense to all theft-related charges, as broadened
from embezzlement through the provisions of section 490a.” (Tufunga, supra, 21 Cal.4th
at p. 952-953, fn. 4; see also People v. Russell, supra, 144 Cal.App.4th at p. 1428;

9 Fenderson’s trial counsel objected to this language, albeit for a different reason.
At trial, defense counsel stated, “in light of the testimony, it would appear that there was
no concealment.” The trial court overruled the objection and Fenderson now concedes
that the record contains evidence of concealment. We nonetheless review her new claim
on the merits, as well as the asserted instructional errors raised in Sections 11.D and 11.E.
below, because section 1259 permits us “[to] review any instruction given, refused or
modified, even though no objection was made thereto in the lower court, if the substantial
rights of the defendant were affected thereby.”

10 In Tufunga, the court held that the claim-of-right defense does not apply to
“robberies perpetrated to satisfy, settle or otherwise collect on a debt, liquidated or
unliquidated—as opposed to forcible takings intended to recover specific personal
property in which the defendant in good faith believes he has a bona fide claim of
ownership or title . .. .” (Tufunga, supra, 21 Cal.4th at p. 956.)

20



People v. Romo (1990) 220 Cal.App.3d 514, 518-519; People v. Holmes (1970)
5 Cal.App.3d 21, 25.)

Furthermore, Fenderson does not suggest any good reason why the claim-of-right
defense should apply to theft by larceny despite evidence of concealment, but not to theft
by embezzlement. A lack of concealment is evidence that a defendant has a good faith
belief in his or her right to the property at issue. (See People v. Stewart (1976) 16 Cal.3d
133, 141 [embezzlement case].) Thus, concealment (or absence of concealment) is
relevant when a claim-of-right defense is raised in connection with theft by whatever
means. The trial court did not err.

D. Consciousness of Guilt Instruction

Next, Fenderson argues that the trial court erred by instructing the jury regarding
consciousness of guilt with CALCRIM No. 362. The jury was instructed as follows: “If
the defendant made a false or misleading statement relating to the charged crime,
knowing the statement was false or intending to mislead, that conduct may show she was
aware of her guilt of the crime and you may consider it in determining her guilt. [{] If
you conclude that the defendant made the statement, it is up to you to decide its meaning
and importance. However, evidence that the defendant made such a statement cannot
prove guilt by itself.”

Before CALCRIM No. 362 was adopted, the standard consciousness of guilt
instruction was CALJIC No. 2.03, which provides: “If you find that before this trial [a]
[the] defendant made a willfully false or deliberately misleading statement concerning the
crime[s] for which [he] [she] is now being tried, you may consider that statement as a
circumstance tending to prove a consciousness of guilt. However, that conduct is not
sufficient by itself to prove guilt, and its weight and significance, if any, are for you to
decide.” (Italics added.)

Fenderson’s trial counsel objected to CALCRIM No. 362, arguing “that in light of
the testimony, the language in that instruction is misleading and confusing to the Jury.”
The trial court overruled the objection, stating that there was “a colorable theory of

consciousness of guilt that the District Attorney could legitimately argue based on the
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evidence.” Fenderson now complains, for the first time, that there was no evidence that
contradicted Fenderson’s pretrial statements and that the version of CALCRIM No. 362
given to the jury was not limited to pretrial statements.

First, we disagree with Fenderson’s contention that “none of [Fenderson’s] pretrial
statements were contradicted . . . .” Fenderson’s pretrial statements were consistent with
her trial testimony, as Fenderson has consistently maintained that Majerus told her she
wanted her to have the Wells Fargo accounts after death. There need not be any
inconsistency between a defendant’s pretrial statements and trial testimony to justify
CALCRIM No. 362. (See People v. Edwards (1992) 8 Cal.App.4th 1092, 1103-1104
[“falsity of a defendant’s pretrial statement may be shown by other evidence even when
the pretrial statement is not inconsistent with defendant’s testimony at trial”’].) Although
Oliver provided some corroboration that Majerus had made the statement that Fenderson
asserted, there was also evidence presented by the prosecution suggesting that Majerus
had never expressed such an intent to others, that Majerus had expressed her distrust of
Fenderson, and that Fenderson was aware Majerus’s will included no such provision.
This conflicting evidence was sufficient to support the instruction given.

Second, Fenderson’s reliance on People v. Beyah (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 1241
(Beyah) is misplaced. In Beyah, the defendant argued that the trial court improperly
instructed with CALCRIM No. 362, which allowed consciousness of guilt to be inferred
solely on the basis of false trial testimony, rather than from false pretrial statements. The
Second District Court of Appeal stated: “[ W]e doubt that the CALCRIM committee
intended CALCRIM No. 362 to be used . . . to permit an inference of consciousness of
guilt based on knowingly false or intentionally misleading statements in a defendant’s
trial testimony.” (ld. at pp. 1248-1249.) The Beyah court also “invite[d] the CALCRIM

committee to clarify its intended use of the instruction.” (Id. at p. 1251.)11

11 CALCRIM No. 362 was revised, effective August 2009, to provide as follows:
“If [the] defendant . . . made a false or misleading statement before this trial relating to
the charged crime, knowing the statement was false or intending to mislead, that conduct
may show (he/she) was aware of (his/her) guilt of the crime and you may consider it in
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Nonetheless, the Beyah court concluded that the defendant had suffered no
prejudice because “California law makes clear that a defendant’s false trial testimony
may, in proper circumstances, be considered as evidence of consciousness of guilt.”
(Beyah, supra, 170 Cal.App.4th at p. 1249.) “ “ “[N]o inference of consciousness of guilt
can be drawn from the mere fact that the jury, in order to convict must have disbelieved
defendant’s [testimony]; only where the false statement or testimony is intentional rather
than merely mistaken and where such statement or testimony suggests that the defendant
has no true exculpatory explanation . . .” * ” may the jury consider defendant’s testimony
as evidence of consciousness of guilt. (Beyah, supra, 170 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1249-1250,
quoting People v. Amador (1970) 8 Cal.App.3d 788, 791-792.) Because the defendant
did not simply deny his guilt at trial, but gave an explanation so unusual that the jury
could conclude it was an intentional fabrication, the court rejected the defendant’s
challenge. (Beyah, at p. 1250.)

Here, the jury could very well have concluded that Fenderson’s trial testimony
was an intentional falsehood that suggested the absence of a true exculpatory explanation.
An inference of consciousness of guilt is permitted in these circumstances. (Beyah,
supra, 170 Cal.App.4th at p. 1250.) In any event, the instruction actually advised that an
untruthful statement could not itself prove guilt of the crimes. To have inferred
consciousness of guilt, the jury was necessarily required to have first disbelieved
Fenderson’s testimony. Therefore, we conclude that the trial court’s instruction with

CALCRIM No. 362 was not prejudicial.

determining (his/her) guilt. [You may not consider the statement in deciding any other
defendant’s guilt.] [q] If you conclude that the defendant made the statement, it is up to
you to decide its meaning and importance. However, evidence that the defendant made
such a statement cannot prove guilt by itself.” (CALCRIM No. 362 (2009 rev.), italics
added.)
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E. Failure to Explain or Deny Adverse Testimony Instruction

Fenderson next contends that the judgment must be reversed because the jury was
improperly instructed with CALCRIM No. 361. Fenderson concedes that she did not
object to this instruction in the trial court.

The jury was instructed as follows: “If the defendant failed in her testimony to
explain or deny evidence against her, and if she could reasonably be expected to have
done so based on what she knew, you may consider her failure to explain or deny in
evaluating that evidence. Any such failure is not enough by itself to prove guilt. The
People must still prove each element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. [{] If the
defendant failed to explain or deny, it is up to you to decide the meaning and importance
of that failure.”

“ ¢ “It is an elementary principle of law that before a jury can be instructed that it
may draw a particular inference, evidence must appear in the record which, if believed by
the jury, will support the suggested inference [citations].” > [Citations.]” (People v.
Lamer (2003) 110 Cal.App.4th 1463, 1469 (Lamer).) Thus, a trial court may give
CALCRIM No. 361 only if the defendant “failed to explain or deny any fact of evidence
that was within the scope of relevant cross-examination.” (People v. Saddler (1979)

24 Cal.3d 671, 682, fn. omitted (Saddler).)12 “A contradiction between the defendant’s

12 Saddler actually addressed whether it was proper to give CALJIC No. 2.62.
(Saddler, supra, 24 Cal.3d at p. 681.) Because CALCRIM No. 361 is similar to CALJIC
No. 2.62, we may rely on case law discussing CALJIC No. 2.62. (See People v.
Rodriguez (2009) 170 Cal.App.4th 1062, 1067.) CALJIC No. 2.62 states: “In this case
defendant has testified to certain matters. [{] If you find that [a][the] defendant failed to
explain or deny any evidence against [him][her] introduced by the prosecution which
[he][she] can reasonably be expected to deny or explain because of facts within [his][her]
knowledge, you may take that failure into consideration as tending to indicate the truth of
this evidence and as indicating that among the inferences that may reasonably be drawn
therefrom those unfavorable to the defendant are the more probable. [{] The failure of a
defendant to deny or explain evidence against [him][her] does not, by itself, warrant an
inference of guilt, nor does it relieve the prosecution of its burden of proving every
essential element of the crime and the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt.
[T] If a defendant does not have the knowledge that [he][she] would need to deny or to
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testimony and other witnesses’ testimony does not constitute a failure to deny which
justifies giving the instruction. [Citation.]” (Lamer, supra, 110 Cal.App.4th at p. 1469.)

Fenderson testified that she withdrew the money from Majerus’s Wells Fargo
accounts because she believed Majerus had given the money to her. Contrary to the
People’s assertion, the fact that Fenderson’s explanation conflicted with the prosecution’s
evidence, does not justify giving the instruction. (Lamer, supra, 110 Cal.App.4th at
p. 1469.)

But, we nonetheless conclude that any error here was harmless under the standard
set forth in People v. Watson (1956) 46 Cal.2d 818, 836. (See Saddler, supra, 24 Cal.3d
at p. 683 [applying Watson standard when trial court improperly instructed with CALJIC
No. 2.62].) In Saddler, the court determined that erroneously giving CALJIC No. 2.62
was harmless because the prosecution’s eyewitness testimony was strong, the jury
quickly returned a verdict, and the jurors were instructed, pursuant to CALJIC No. 17.31,
to ““ ‘disregard any instruction which applies to a state of facts which you determine does
not exist.” ” (Saddler, supra, 24 Cal.3d at pp. 683-684; see also Lamer, supra,

110 Cal.App.4th at pp. 1472-1473.)13 Similar factors are present here.

CALCRIM No. 361 itself contains several safeguards against prejudice. First,
CALCRIM No. 361 does not direct the jury to draw an adverse inference, it only states
that if the defendant has failed to explain or deny adverse evidence, and if she could
reasonably be expected to have done so based on what she knew, that fact may be
considered in evaluating the evidence. Second, it explicitly states that the failure to deny

or explain evidence does not alone prove guilt. Third, it makes clear that the prosecution

explain evidence against [him,][her,] it would be unreasonable to draw an inference
unfavorable to [him][her] because of [his][her] failure to deny or explain this evidence.”

13 Fenderson misplaces her reliance on Justice Mosk’s dissenting opinion in
Saddler, Justice Jefferson’s dissenting opinion in People v. Campbell (1978)
87 Cal.App.3d 678, 687-689 and People v. St. Andrew (1980) 101 Cal.App.3d 450.
Justice Mosk’s and Justice Jefferson’s dissenting opinions have no precedential value.
People v. St. Andrew, supra, 101 Cal.App.3d 450 does not address either CALJIC
No. 2.62 or CALCRIM No. 361.
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has the burden of proving the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. Furthermore,
the jury was instructed, pursuant to CALCRIM No. 200, that “[sJome of these
instructions may not apply, . . . [and that the jury should] . . . follow the instructions that
do apply to the facts as [they] find them.”

We presume that the jury, heeding the directive of CALCRIM No. 200, found
CALCRIM No. 361 inapplicable, and, instead, examined whether Fenderson’s
explanation was credible. (See People v. Chavez (1958) 50 Cal.2d 778, 790 [jury
presumed to follow instructions].) The prosecution presented significant evidence
discrediting Fenderson’s assertion that she believed in good faith she had a right to the
money based on Majerus’s statements. The record shows that Majerus’s 2004 will did
not include a devise to Fenderson and that Fenderson was aware of this fact.
Nonetheless, after delay in providing financial records to Majerus’s executor and being
questioned regarding missing records from the Wells Fargo accounts, Fenderson
withdrew $304,000 from Majerus’s accounts without informing the bank of her death.
Given this evidence, we conclude that it is not reasonably probable that a result more
favorable to Fenderson would have been reached had the jury not been instructed with
CALCRIM No. 361.

F. Cumulative Error

Finally, Fenderson argues that the cumulative effect of the trial court’s errors
requires reversal of the judgment. We have rejected many of Fenderson’s arguments on
the merits. We have identified only one error, which we consider harmless. Fenderson
was entitled to a trial “in which [her] guilt or innocence was fairly adjudicated.” (People
v. Hill (1998) 17 Cal.4th 800, 844.) She received such a trial.

G. Retroactivity of Section 4019

After briefing was complete, Fenderson sought leave to file a supplemental brief
regarding recent amendments to section 4019, effective January 25, 2010. Fenderson’s
request was granted, and we sought briefing from the People. The amendments to
section 4019, with certain exceptions not applicable here, increase the good conduct

credits a defendant can receive for presentence custody.
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When Fenderson was sentenced on December 18, 2008, the trial court awarded
24 days of actual custody credit and 12 days of “conduct” credit for a total of 36 days of
presentence custody credit. Under the then current version of section 4019, a defendant
earned two days of credit for every four days of custody unless she failed to perform
assigned work or abide by the facility’s reasonable rules and regulations. (Former
8 4019, subds. (a)(4), (b), (c), (f), as amended by Stats. 1982, ch. 1234, § 7, p. 4553.)
Effective January 2010, section 4019 provides for up to two days of credit for every two
days of custody under the same conditions. (8 4019, subds. (a)(4), (b)(2), (c)(1), (f).)
Fenderson argues she is entitled to the benefit of the current version of section 4019,
citing our decision in People v. Pelayo (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 481 (Pelayo) holding that
the new law applies retroactively to all criminal sentences that were not yet final when
the law went into effect. However, our Supreme Court granted review in that case on
July 21, 2010, S183552.

Numerous, and conflicting, decisions have been published addressing the
retroactive application of the amendments to section 4019. The People argue the recent
amendments do not apply retroactively, citing People v. Eusebio (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th
990, People v. Hopkins (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 615, review granted July 28, 2010,
S183724, and People v. Otubuah (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 422, review granted July 21,
2010, S184314. (See also People v. Rodriguez (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1, review granted
June 9, 2010, S181808.)

In Pelayo, we joined several other courts of appeal in holding that the amendment
to section 4019 does apply retroactively because it is an amendatory statute that mitigates
punishment. (See also People v. Norton (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 408, review granted
Aug. 11, 2010, S183260; People v. Landon (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1096, review granted
June 23, 2010, S182808; People v. House (2010) 183 Cal.App.4th 1049, review granted
June 23, 2010, S182813; People v. Brown (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1354, review granted
June 9, 2010, S181963; People v. Bacon (2010) 186 Cal.App.4th 333; People v. Keating
(2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 364.) As indicated, our Supreme Court has granted hearing in

the majority of these cases and will ultimately decide the issue. Pending direction from

27



the Supreme Court, we adopt and incorporate our discussion and reasoning in Pelayo, as
set forth hereafter, and again hold that the statute must be given retroactive effect.

1. Retroactivity of Penal Statutes in General

The Penal Code provides that “[n]o part of [the Penal Code] is retroactive, unless
expressly so declared.” (§ 3.) “That section simply embodies the general rule of
construction . . . that when there is nothing to indicate a contrary intent in a statute it will
be presumed that the Legislature intended the statute to operate prospectively and not
retroactively.” (In re Estrada (1965) 63 Cal.2d 740, 746 (Estrada).) The rule, however,
“is not a straitjacket” and “should not be followed blindly in complete disregard of
factors that may give a clue to the legislative intent” even if the Legislature has not
expressly stated that a statute should apply retroactively. (Ibid.) In Estrada, the Supreme
Court considered the particular circumstance of a penal statute that lessens the
punishment for a crime but does not include an express statement that the statute was to
apply retroactively. (Id. at pp. 743-744.) In that situation, the court concluded, the
inevitable inference is “that the Legislature must have intended, and by necessary
implication provided, that the amendatory statute should prevail. When the Legislature
amends a statute so as to lessen the punishment it has obviously expressly determined
that its former penalty was too severe and that a lighter punishment is proper as
punishment for the commission of the prohibited act. It is an inevitable inference that the
Legislature must have intended that the new statute imposing the new lighter penalty now
deemed to be sufficient should apply to every case to which it constitutionally could
apply. . .. This intent seems obvious, because to hold otherwise would be to conclude
that the Legislature was motivated by a desire for vengeance, a conclusion not permitted
in view of modern theories of penology,” which instruct that punishment is directed
toward deterrence, incapacitation, and rehabilitation, but not “punishment for its own
sake.” (ld. at pp. 744-745.) Accordingly, “where the amendatory statute mitigates
punishment and there is no saving clause [requiring only prospective effect], the rule is

that the amendment will operate retroactively so that the lighter punishment is imposed.”
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(Id. at p. 748.) That is, it will apply to all judgments of conviction that are not yet final
on direct review. (Id. at p. 744.)

In 1996, the Supreme Court expressly reaffirmed the Estrada rule. (People v.
Nasalga (1996) 12 Cal.4th 784, 792, fn. 7 (Nasalga).) In a prior case, the court had
suggested that the rationale of Estrada had been undermined by further developments in
penology in this state. (In re Pedro T. (1994) 8 Cal.4th 1041, 1045, fn. 1, citing 8 1170,
subd. (a)(1) [“Legislature finds and declares that the purpose of imprisonment for crime
is punishment”].) In Nasalga, however, the court rejected an invitation to reconsider
Estrada in light of this change in penological theory. “In the 31 years since this court
decided Estrada, . . . the Legislature has taken no action, as it easily could have done, to
abrogate Estrada.”14 (Nasalga, at p. 792, fn. 7.) In short, in Nasalga the court
reaffirmed the Estrada rule on the ground of legislative acquiescence, regardless of the
continuing persuasiveness of the Estrada rationale. (Cf. People v. Meloney (2003)

30 Cal.4th 1145, 1161 (Meloney) [ ¢ “[when] a statute has been construed by judicial
decision, and that construction is not altered by subsequent legislation, it must be
presumed that the Legislature is aware of the judicial construction and approves of
it” > ’].) After Nasalga, it is no longer open to debate whether the fact that the
Legislature enacted a statute that mitigates punishment supports an inference that the
Legislature intended the statute to apply retroactively. (Nasalga, at p. 792, fn. 7.)

2. Retroactivity of Statutes Increasing Custody Credits

In at least four prior decisions long predating the current amendments, courts of
appeal have held that the Estrada rule applied to amendments increasing the credits a
defendant could receive for presentence custody. (People v. Hunter (1977)

68 Cal.App.3d 389, 391-393 (Hunter); People v. Sandoval (1977) 70 Cal.App.3d 73, 87—

14 Notably, during that 31-year period the Supreme Court had repeatedly followed
and applied Estrada. (See, e.g., People v. Francis (1969) 71 Cal.2d 66, 75-76; People v.
Rossi (1976) 18 Cal.3d 295, 298-300; People v. Chapman (1978) 21 Cal.3d 124, 126-
127; People v. Babylon (1985) 39 Cal.3d 719, 721-722; Tapia v. Superior Court (1991)
53 Cal.3d 282, 300-301.)
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88 (Sandoval); People v. Doganiere (1978) 86 Cal.App.3d 237, 238-240 (Doganiere);
People v. Smith (1979) 98 Cal.App.3d 793, 798-799 (Smith).) As far as we are aware, no
published decisions have held to the contrary. In Hunter, the issue was whether
amendments to section 2900.5, which allowed credit for actual time spent in presentence
custody against sentences imposed as a condition of probation, applied retroactively to
probationary sentences imposed prior to the effective date of the amendments. (Hunter,
at p. 391.) Following Estrada, the court held the amendments applied retroactively to
judgments that were not yet final on the effective date of the new law. (lbid.) Sandoval
agreed with and followed Hunter on the same issue. (Sandoval, at pp. 87-88.)

In Doganiere, the issue was the retroactivity of amendments to section 2900.5 that
authorized conduct credit (pursuant to § 4019) for time that had been served in jail as a
condition of probation against a sentence later imposed after a violation of probation.
(Doganiere, supra, 86 Cal.App.3d at pp. 238-239.) Following Estrada and Hunter, the
court held the amendments were retroactive. (l1d. at pp. 239-240.) In Smith, the court
followed Estrada and Doganiere and held that 1979 amendments to section 4019 applied
retroactively. (Smith, supra, 98 Cal.App.3d at p. 799.) In Doganiere, the court
specifically rejected an argument that the amendments should not apply retroactively
because conduct credits were an incentive for future inmate behavior, a goal that could
only be accomplished through prospective application. (Doganiere, at pp. 239-240.) “It
appears to us that in applying the principles of Estrada, as indeed we must, the
Legislature simply intended to give credit for good behavior and in so doing, dangled a
carrot over those who are serving time. It would appear to be fair, just and reasonable to
give prisoner A, who has been a model prisoner and by reason thereof served only five
months of his six-month sentence, credit for the full six months if we are going to give
credit for the full six months to prisoner B, who is recalcitrant, hard-nosed, and spent his
entire time violating the rules of the local jail.” (Ibid.) We note that Estrada itself
implicitly rejected a similar argument made by the dissent in that case, that retroactive
application of a lessened criminal penalty undermines the deterrent effect of penal

statutes. (See Estrada, supra, 63 Cal.2d at p. 753 (dis. opn. of Burke, J.).) Doganiere
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concluded, “Under Estrada, it must be presumed that the Legislature thought the prior
system of not allowing credit for good behavior was too severe.” (Doganiere, at p. 240.)
Again, under Nasalga, the legitimacy of that inference is no longer open to debate.
(Nasalga, supra, 12 Cal.4th at 792, fn. 7.)

The People contended in Pelayo that the reasoning of Doganiere is unsound, since
the public purpose of good conduct statutes is to provide effective incentives for good
behavior, and that this purpose can only be furthered by prospective application of
additional credits. “Reason dictates that it is impossible to influence behavior after it has
occurred.” (In re Stinnette (1979) 94 Cal.App.3d 800, 806 (Stinnette).) Stinnette
considered an amendment to section 2931 under the Determinate Sentencing Act (DSA),
which allowed prisoners to earn conduct credits but restricted application of the
amendment to time served after the effective date. (Id. at pp. 803-804.) The issue was
whether the express prospective application of the statute violated equal protection. (1d.
at p. 804.) The court concluded that it did not because there was a rational basis for
treating those who had already begun serving their sentences differently from those who
began serving their sentences after the effective date. (Id. at pp. 805-806.) Unlike
Stinnette, the amendment to section 4019 at issue here does not specify the Legislature’s
intent regarding its retroactive or prospective application. We find that Stinnette is not
helpful in determining the Legislature’s intent when amending section 4019.

The Legislature, which is presumed to have been aware of the Hunter/Doganiere
case law, “has taken no action, as it easily could have done, to abrogate” these decisions
in the more than 31 years since the last of them was decided. (Cf. Nasalga, supra,

12 Cal.4th at p. 792, fn. 7.) Moreover, the Legislature twice amended section 4019, in
1982 and 2009, without expressly providing that the amendments would apply
prospectively only. (Stats. 1982, ch. 1234, § 7, p. 4553, Stats. 2009-2010, 3d Ex. Sess.
2009, ch. 28, 8 50.) On these facts, we may infer that the Legislature has acquiesced in
Doganiere. (See Meloney, supra, 30 Cal.4th at p. 1161.)
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3. Legislative Intent in 2009 Amendments of Section 4019

As the People acknowledged in Pelayo, the Legislature, in enacting the
amendments to section 4019, did not expressly declare its intent in doing so. The
appellant in Pelayo asserted that an intent to retroactively apply the amendments can be
discerned from the statement that Senate Bill 18 was enacted to “address[] the fiscal
emergency declared by the Governor” (Sen. Bill 18, § 62) and that earlier release of
prisoners would foster that purpose. However, the legislative intent at issue “is not the
motivation for the legislation” but rather “the Legislature’s intent concerning whether the
[enactment] should apply prospectively only.” (Nasalga, supra, 12 Cal.4th at p. 795).
The statute’s purpose of saving state funds by reducing prison population while at the
same time minimizing security risk is at least as consistent with retroactive as with
prospective application of the amendments to section 4019.

The appellant in Pelayo also contended that the express use of a saving clause in
other statutes amended by the same legislation (Sen. Bill 18, § 4115; § 2933.3, subd. (d)
[providing additional custody credits for prison inmate firefighting training or service
only for those eligible after July 1, 2009]) compels a conclusion that the Legislature
intended retroactivity for amended section 4019. The Legislature’s inclusion of a saving
clause in the amendment to section 2933.3, but not in the amendments to section 4019,
supports an inference that the Legislature had a different intent with respect to the
retroactive or prospective application of the two provisions. (Cf. Fairbanks v. Superior
Court (2009) 46 Cal.4th 56, 62 [“use of differing language in otherwise parallel
provisions supports an inference that a difference in meaning was intended”].) The
People urged that we could divine a contrary legislative purpose for only prospective
application from the fact that the amendment to section 2933.3, subdivision (d) was
expressly made partially retroactive, and the Legislature failed to do so here. We think

that the Legislature’s use of the phrase “shall only apply” in amending section 2933.3

15 “The credits authorized in subdivisions (b) and (c) shall only apply to inmates
who are eligible after July 1, 2009.” (Stats. 2009-2010, 3d Ex. Sess. 2009, ch. 28, § 41.)
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(italics added), however, suggests an intent to limit the provision’s retroactive
application, rather than extend the provision’s otherwise prospective application
retroactively.

The appellant in Pelayo further argued that we could look to the Legislature’s
explicit recognition of inevitable delays in implementation of new custody credit
calculations by the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation (Sen. Bill 18, § 59) as
evidence that the Legislature contemplated retroactive application of such credits.
Section 59, an uncodified provision of Senate Bill 18, provides: “The Department of
Corrections and Rehabilitation shall implement the changes made by this act regarding
time credits in a reasonable time. However, in light of limited case management
resources, it is expected that there will be some delays in determining the amount of
additional time credits to be granted against inmate sentences resulting from the changes
in law pursuant to this act. An inmate shall have no cause of action or claim for damages
because of any additional time spent in custody due to reasonable delays in implementing
the changes in the credit provisions of this act. However, to the extent that excess days in
state prison due to delays in implementing this act are identified, they shall be considered
as time spent on parole, if any parole period is applicable.” (Stats. 2009—2010, 3d Ex.
Sess. 2009, ch. 28, 8 59.) While ambiguous, this section does tend to support an
inference that the Legislative intended the provisions affecting custody credits to have
retroactive effect.

Ultimately, however, we concluded that, in the absence of clear affirmative
indications that the Legislature intended the amendments to section 4019 to have
prospective application only, we must apply the Estrada and Doganiere presumption that
the amendments are retroactive as to all sentences not yet final on direct appeal at the
time the amendments went into effect. We found no clear expression of such an intent

and thus held that the amendments must be applied retroactively.
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4. Conclusion

Accordingly, we conclude that Fenderson is entitled to the increased custody
credits available under section 4019 as amended in 2009.16 We shall direct the court to
recalculate the credits under the current version of the law. Because we reach this
conclusion, we have no need to address Fenderson’s argument that her equal protection
rights would be violated if the amendments were given only prospective application.

1. DISPOSITION

The judgment is reversed as to the calculation of presentence custody credits only.
On remand, the trial court shall revise its sentencing order and the abstract of judgment to
reflect that Fenderson earned a total of 24 days of presentence conduct credits pursuant to
section 4019, for a total presentence credit of 48 days. The court shall forward a certified
copy of the amended abstract to the Department of Corrections and Rehabilitation. The

judgment is affirmed in all other respects.

Bruiniers, J.

We concur:

Jones, P. J.

Needham, J.

16 The trial court, of course, cannot be faulted for applying the version of section
4019 in effect at the time of the December 2008 sentencing.
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